Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 1 of 33

FILED 10-30-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

In the Matter of the Guardianship and Protective Placement of M.S.:

WAUKESHA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES,

Petitioner-Respondent,

Appeal No. 22-AP-2065

v.

Waukesha County 20-GN-197

M.S.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW OF M.S.

ON PETITION FROM THE SEPTEMBER 6, 2023 OPINION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II Waukesha County Circuit Court Case No. 20-GN-197 Hon. Michael P. Maxwell

Counsel for M.S.:

Simerson Law LLC

INTRODUCTION

M.S. has paranoid schizophrenia. During the 30 or so years that followed the early 1990s, Waukesha County filed petition after petition to have M.S. involuntarily committed under ch. 51. All were granted, and for good reason. Between 1978 and 1996, he endured 11 inpatient hospitalizations. However, with the benefits of treatment under the ch. 51 commitment, M.S. was able to transition to outpatient care by 1996, availing himself of Waukesha County's Outpatient Community Support Program (CSP). He would remain in the community receiving outpatient care for the next 22 years, at which time he was inexplicably discharged from both the CSP and the commitment.

In 2020, Waukesha County petitioned to have M.S. protectively placed under ch. 55. By that time, M.S. had stopped taking his medications, suffered a mental decompensation, and been involuntarily committed under ch. 51. His condition would finally stabilize and improve several months later—enough to be transferred from an inpatient facility to a group home—after titrating onto olanzapine (Zyprexa), a second-generation antipsychotic medication. At the final hearing on Waukesha County's ch. 55 petition, the evidence demonstrated that treatment continued to help control and improve the symptoms of M.S.'s paranoid schizophrenia and that, if such treatment was withdrawn, M.S. would need a more acute, restrictive level of mental healthcare. Nevertheless, the Circuit Court granted Waukesha County's petition.

This outcome cannot be reconciled with settled law. *Fond du Lac County v. Helen E.F.*, 2012 WI 50, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179 (drawing the distinction between the need for rehabilitation to control or improve a treatable disorder for which ch. 51 is more appropriate and the need for habilitation to maximize functioning and maintain

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 5 of 33

an untreatable disorder for which ch. 55 is more appropriate); see also State ex rel. Watts v. Combined Community Services Bd., 122 Wis. 2d 65, 89-90, 362 N.W.2d 104 (1985) ("Chapter 51, Stats., application requires that a person be rehabilitable. Section 55.06 requires that a person have a permanent condition that requires only 'care and custody,' rather than active treatment.").

M.S. cannot be placed into custodial care under a ch. 55 when the evidence is clear that that he is more appropriately committed for treatment under ch. 51. Because treatment, including the administration of antipsychotic medication, helps control and improve the symptoms of his disorder, and because he withdrawal of such treatment would require that he be placed into a more-restrictive setting, M.S. has a primary need for rehabilitation and is more appropriately treated under ch. 51.

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 6 of 33

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Under Fond du Lac County v. Helen E.F., 2012 WI 50, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179, does the government fail to carry its burden on a petition to protectively place an individual under ch. 55 if the evidence presented at the final hearing demonstrates that he or she is capable of rehabilitation and is, therefore, more appropriately treated under ch. 51?

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: M.S. raised this issue during postdisposition proceedings and again on appeal.

M.S.'S POSITION: Yes. He argued that he was capable of rehabilitation within the meaning of *Helen E.F.* and was, therefore, more appropriately treated under ch. 51.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: Yes. However, it concluded that M.S. was incapable of rehabilitation within the meaning of *Helen E.F.* and was, therefore, more appropriately treated under ch. 55.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: No.

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 7 of 33

REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

For the following reasons, the Court should revisit *Helen E.F.*, a largely neglected hallmark of Wisconsin's civil commitment jurisprudence:

<u>First</u>, *Helen E.F.*—if rigorously applied—protects the right to due process of individuals subject to a petition under ch. 51 or ch. 55. It guarantees that they will be committed under whichever chapter affords them the least-restrictive setting appropriate to their needs for the shortest necessary duration. It does this by distinguishing rehabilitation from habilitation. *Helen E.F.* held that an individual whose primary need is *rehabilitation* is more appropriately committed under ch. 51, while an individual whose primary need is *habilitation* should be placed or provided services under ch. 55.

Chs. 51 and 55 pursue different goals. Ch. 51 is designed for the rehabilitation of treatable disorders whereas ch. 55 is designed for the long-term management of untreatable disorders. *Helen E.F.*, 340 Wis. 2d 500, \P 25. Indeed, the Court's rehabilitation-habilitation standard arose from the contrast in purposes between the two chapters as well as relevant case law. *Id.* \P ¶ 29-36.

The rehabilitation-habilitation standard turns on whether the individual is "capable of rehabilitation," also termed "rehabilitative potential." An individual is more appropriately treated under ch. 51 if he or she is capable of rehabilitation, *id.* ¶ 29-36, meaning treatment helps in "controlling or improving" their disorder, *id.* ¶¶ 35-36. Conversely, an individual is more appropriately treated under ch. 55 if he or she is incapable of rehabilitation, meaning treatment "maximize[es] their individual functioning and maintenance" but does not help in "controlling or improving" their disorder. *Id.*

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 8 of 33

Second, M.S. should not be committed indefinitely to a protective placement under ch. 55. Antipsychotic medications and other mental health treatments control and profoundly improve his paranoia and other psychotic symptoms of his illness. In fact, if treatment was withdrawn, he would have to be placed in a locked, inpatient facility. Yet, in 2020, his treatment was so successful that he was transferred under ch. 51 to a group home, where he enjoyed far fewer restraints on his liberty. Clearly, he has rehabilitative potential.

<u>Finally</u>, *Helen E.F.*'s rehabilitation-habilitation standard is overlooked, imperfect, and indispensable. Moreover, it is no dead letter. The Court of Appeals refused to acknowledge its existence, essentially treating *Helen E.F.* as an advisory opinion and its rehabilitation-habilitation standard as dicta. The Court should grant this petition to reverse the trajectory of this vital precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

From 1978 to the early 1990s, M.S. was frequently admitted to hospitals for psychiatric inpatient treatment of paranoid schizophrenia. Then, in the early 1990s, Waukesha County involuntarily committed him under a ch. 51. He remained under that commitment for nearly all of the next 30 years, most which he spent receiving outpatient care in the community. Waukesha County let his ch. 51 commitment expire on August 9, 2021. Nine months prior, on November 6, 2020, Waukesha County petitioned to have permanent guardians appointed for M.S. and his estate due to incompetency. Following a one-day contested hearing on January 12, 2021, the Circuit Court granted the guardianship petitions. On June 7, 2021, Waukesha County petitioned for a protective placement under ch. 55. Following a one-day contested hearing on August 31, 2021, the Circuit Court granted the protective placement petition.

B. Procedural Status and Disposition in Lower Courts

M.S. filed a motion for postdisposition relief, arguing that he was not an appropriate subject for treatment under a ch. 55 protective placement, citing *Helen E.F.* The Circuit Court denied the motion in a written decision. (P-App 019-24.) In analyzing whether M.S. was more properly treated under chs. 51 or 55, the Circuit Court found that, under *Helen E.F.*, M.S. did not have rehabilitative potential. (P-App 020-024.) It, instead, concluded that he belonged in long-term custodial care because his treatment did not improve his condition enough to allow him to fully reintegrate into society. (Id.)

¹ M.S. does not dispute the order granting the petition to appoint permanent guardians over him and his estate.

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 10 of 33

On September 6, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed, albeit on different grounds. (P-App 001-0018.) It chided M.S. for arguing that he would be more appropriately treated under ch. 51, calling it a "red herring": "Unfortunately, [M.S.] gets off track early in this appeal, spending his entire appellate briefing effort attempting to convince us that his circumstance would be more appropriately considered under WIS. STAT. ch. 51 instead of WIS. STAT. ch. 55." (P-App 003-004, n.3.) Dismissing Helen E.F., it stated that, "[w]hile that case is informative as to various matters related to WIS. STAT. chs. 51 and 55, at the end of the day, the Helen E.F. court's decision was that Helen was 'improperly committed under ch. 51' because she was not 'a proper subject for treatment [under that chapter] because . . . she [was] not medically capable of rehabilitation, as required by ch. 51." (Id. (citing 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶ 42).) It insisted: "[W]hether the ch. 51 approach might be a 'more appropriate' action[] is not before us and not a matter for us to dwell on. Which path to pursue – ch. 55 or ch. 51 – is an executive decision made by the County, not the courts." (Id.)

The Court of Appeals, instead, performed a rote application of the statutory elements to the facts of the case, concluding that the evidence sufficed to affirm the Circuit Court's ruling.

M.S. moved for reconsideration. He argued in relevant part:

There is no disputing the Court's observation that, "at the end of the day, the *Helen E.F.* court's decision was that Helen was 'improperly committed under ch. 51' because she was not 'a proper subject for treatment [under that chapter] because . . . she [was] not medically capable of rehabilitation, as required by' ch. 51." (Op. at 4, ¶ 6 n.3.) But at the same time, there is also no disputing that *Helen E.F.* analyzed two issues: "whether Helen is a proper subject for treatment under Wis. Stat. ch. 51, and whether ch. 55 or 51 is a more appropriate avenue for Helen's care." 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶ 31 (emphasis added).

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 11 of 33

At the beginning of the *Helen E.F.* opinion, the Supreme Court made its holding apparent: "After reviewing chs. 51 and 55, we hold that Helen is more appropriately treated under the provisions provided in ch. 55 rather than those in ch. 51." *Id.* ¶ 2. In this appeal, [M.S.] asked the Court to hold that he is more appropriately treated under the provisions provided in ch. 51 rather than those in ch. 55.

(Resp.'s Mot. for Recons., at 2-3 (footnote omitted, emphases in original).)

The Court of Appeals denied the motion, without comment. This petition follows.

C. Statement of Facts Undisputed

The Court of Appeals fully and fairly summarized the pertinent background facts in its opinion.

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 12 of 33

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD REVISIT HELEN E.F. TO CLARIFY ITS CRUCIAL ROLE IN SAFGUARDING AGAINST THE GOVERNMENT'S UNJUSTIFED AND IMPROPER CHOICE BETWEEN SEEKING TREATMENT UNDER CH. 51 AND CUSTODIAL CARE UNDER CH. 55.

Helen E.F. is in important cause for any respondent who faces either a petition to commit him to treatment under ch. 51 or a petition to place him into custodial care under ch. 55 but whose history makes a plausible case for a commitment either one. Under these circumstances, the Court indicated in *Helen E.F.* that one of the two chapters may be more appropriate and that, if so, the government cannot meet its burden to prove the other, lesser-appropriate option.

The Court should grant this petition to resuscitate the importance of *Helen E.F.* and to more directly describe its connection to key principles of due process.

- A. Helen E.F. Adopted the Rehabilitation-Habilitation Standard for Determining Whether an Individual is More Appropriately Treated Under Ch. 51 or Ch. 55.
 - 1. The Court's holding

In *Helen E.F.*, the Court was asked to address the converse question that this petition raises. It was asked to determine whether the government properly committed under ch. 51 as opposed to ch. 55 given that she suffered from Alzheimer's Disease. 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶ 2. It concluded that she may not: "After reviewing chs. 51 and 55, we hold that Helen is more appropriately treated under the provisions provided in ch. 55 rather than those in ch. 51." *Id*.

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 13 of 33

2. The purposes and requirements of ch. 51 and ch. 55

Chs. 51 and 55 "serve substantially different purposes." *Id.* ¶ 21. "[C]h. 55 was specifically tailored by the legislature to provide for long-term care of individuals with incurable disorders, while ch. 51 was designed to facilitate the treatment of mental illnesses suffered by those capable of rehabilitation." *Id.* ¶ 13; *see also id.* ¶ 21 ("[Ch.] 51 is designed to accommodate short-term commitment and treatment of mentally ill individuals, while ch. 55 provides for long-term care for individuals with disabilities that are permanent or likely to be permanent." (citing Wis. Stat. §§ 51.20(1)(a), 51.20(13)(g), 55.08(1)(d)).

Importantly, "ch. 51, . . . unlike ch. 55, has the principal purpose of 'assur[ing] the provision of a full range of treatment and rehabilitation services . . . for all mental disorders and . . . for mental illness'" Id. ¶ 20 (quoting § 51.001(1)) (emphasis added).

To be eligible for a ch. 55 protective placement, the government must prove that the respondent

- 3. has "a primary need for residential care and custody";
- 2. is "an adult who has been determined to be incompetent by a circuit court";
- 3. is "so totally incapable of providing for his . . . own care or custody as to create a substantial risk of serious harm to himself" because of "a developmental disability, degenerative brain disorder, serious and persistent mental illness, or other like incapacit[y]"; and
- 4. has "a disability that is permanent or likely to be permanent."

Wis. Stat. § 55.08(1).

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 14 of 33

At a hearing on a ch. 55 petition, the government petitioner must prove these elements by clear and convincing evidence, consisting of testimony of witnesses assigned to conduct an analysis of the respondent. Id. ¶ 17. If granted, the Circuit Court "may order a protective placement . . . at a 'nursing home[], public medical institution[,] . . . or [at] [an]other appropriate facilit[y],' but may not order placement at 'units for the acutely mentally ill.'" Id. (quoting Wis. Stat. § 55.12(2)) (emphasis added). It may grant the facility permission to administer psychotropic medications. Id. ¶ 18.

To be eligible for a ch. 51 involuntary commitment, the government must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the respondent

- 1. is "mentally ill";
- 2. is "a proper subject for treatment"; and
- 3. is "dangerous" to themselves or to others.

Id. at ¶ 20 (quoting § 51.20(1)(a)). Otherwise, "the procedures for commitment in ch. 51 are similar to those contained in ch. 55." Id.

The Court held that "ch. 55 provides Helen with the best means of care . . . because ch. 55 was specifically tailored by the legislature to provide for long-term care of individuals with incurable disorders, while ch. 51 was designed to facilitate the treatment of mental illnesses suffered by those capable of rehabilitation." Id. ¶ 13. It found that, "[b]ecause Helen's disability is likely to be permanent, she is a proper subject for protective placement and services under ch. 55, which allows for her care in a facility more narrowly tailored to her needs, and which provides her necessary additional process and protections." Id. ¶ 2. It further found "that Helen is not a proper

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 15 of 33

subject for treatment because while her Alzheimer's Disease may be managed, she is not medically capable of rehabilitation, as required by the chapter." *Id.*

3. *Procedural protections*

In choosing whether it is more appropriate to petition under ch. 51 or ch. 55, the government must consider the respondent's right to "be attended to with the fewest possible constraints on her freedom consistent with her own protection and the safety of the public." *Id.* ¶ 22 (citing Wis. Stat. §§ 55.001 (requiring placement with "the least possible restriction on personal liberty"), 51.001 (stating that it is the purpose of the chapter to provide "the least restrictive treatment alternative appropriate to [the respondent's] needs")). The Circuit Court's decision requires it to balance these interests. *Id.* (citing *Youngberg v. Romeo*, 457 U.S. 307, 321 (1982) (emphasizing "the proper balance between the legitimate interests of the State and the rights of the involuntarily committed to reasonable conditions of safety and freedom from unreasonable restraints")).

Whichever chapter best comports with the respondent's interests will depend on his or her circumstances. For example, the Court explained that "an individual committed under ch. 51 may be placed in <u>any</u> mental health unit without an additional finding by the circuit court, while under ch. 55, an individual may not be placed in units for the acutely mentally ill." *Id.* ¶ 23 (emphasis in original).

The Court found this distinction vital to the propriety of placing her under ch. 55

because under the language of ch. 51, Helen, an 85 year-old Alzheimer's Disease patient, could be committed to a facility that tends to acutely mentally ill patients. See § 51.01(19) ("'Treatment facility' means any publicly or privately operated facility or unit thereof providing

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 16 of 33

treatment of alcoholic, drug dependent, mentally ill or developmentally disabled persons"). Thus, ch. 55 excludes certain facilities that Helen might otherwise be placed in pursuant to ch. 51. Because it is more narrowly tailored to her specific condition, and because it affords her additional process designed to ensure the appropriateness of her facility, we conclude that ch. 55 better balances Helen's interest in liberty with the County's interest in protecting the public and in affording her the care she requires.

Id. ¶ 23.

4. Rehabilitation-habilitation standard

The Court's rehabilitation-habilitation test was first adopted in *Helen E.F.* and then supplemented in *Waukesha County v. J.W.J.*, 2017 WI 57, 375 Wis. 2d 542, 895 N.W.2d 783. In *Helen E.F.*, the Court's "analysis of whether [an individual] is a proper subject for treatment under Wis. Stat. ch. 51, and whether ch. 55 or 51 is a more appropriate avenue for [his or her] care[,]" depended on whether the individual was "capable of 'rehabilitation.'" 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶¶ 30-31 (citing Wis. Stat. § 51.01(17)). For whether an individual was capable or incapable of rehabilitation, the Court turned to case law. *Id.* ¶ 31 (citing *Milwaukee Cnty. Combined Cmty. Servs. Bd. v. Athans*, 107 Wis. 2d 331, 337, 320 N.W.2d. 30 (Ct. App. 1982) (found subject *incapable* of rehabilitation); *C.J. v. State*, 120 Wis. 2d 355, 354 N.W.2d 219 (Ct. App. 1984) (found subject *capable* of rehabilitation)).

In *Athans*, the Court of Appeals found that "Athans, a chronic paranoid schizophrenic, 'was not a proper subject for treatment because rehabilitation in her case was not possible.'" $Id. \P 32$ (quoting 107 Wis. 2d at 333). The examining expert explained that her care could achieve no more than "long-term stabilization, or management of the disease." $Id. \P 32$. Any "attempted treatment of [Athan's] underlying condition . . . would 'have as much effect on her as water

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 17 of 33

on a duck's back." *Id.* The Court of Appeals concluded that she "could not be rehabilitated, because it understood from the testimony of [the expert] that Athans 'would not change her delusional scheme no matter what the treatment attempted, including sedation." *Id.* ¶ 33 (quoting 107 Wis. 2d at 333).

In *C.J.*, the Court of Appeals concluded that C.J., another chronic paranoid schizophrenic, *was* capable of rehabilitation because "treatment could help C.J. . . . by effecting a change in his underlying disorder." *Id.* ¶ 34 (citing 120 Wis. 2d at 356, 362). It distinguished *Athans* because the evidence showed "that [Athans's] delusional scheme would not change no matter what treatment was tried" and that her "disorder[] could not be helped in any way." *Id.* ¶ 35 (citing 120 Wis. 2d at 361). While the provision of care might have "helped her in terms of maximizing [her] individual functioning and maintenance," it would not have "helped in controlling or improving [her] disorder[.]" *Id.* (citing 120 Wis. 2d at 362). The Court of Appeals found, by contrast, that "C.J. will benefit from treatment that will go beyond controlling his activity" and will, instead, further help in "controlling his disorder and its symptoms." *Id.*

Consequently, based on *Athans* and *C.J.*, the Court held that an individual is *incapable* of rehabilitation "[i]f treatment will 'maximize[e] the[] individual functioning and maintenance' of the [patient], but not 'help[] in controlling or improving [his] disorder[.]'" *Id.* ¶ 36 (quoting *C.J.*, 120 Wis. 2d at 362). Accordingly, a patient is properly a subject of ch. 51—and not ch. 55—if treatment helps control or improve the symptoms of his disorder.

Helen had Alzheimer's disease. The Court found "that while the medical techniques employed in Helen's case 'maximiz[e] [her] . . . functioning and maintenance,' . . . those techniques are unfortunately unlikely to rehabilitate her." *Id.* ¶ 37. "[G]iven the

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 18 of 33

current state of medical science, Helen's Alzheimer's Disease is incurable and untreatable; the only available medical remedy is maintenance—not treatment—of the disease as it progresses." *Id.* Consequently, "[b]ecause Helen's Alzheimer's Disease is not treatable and medical techniques can only 'maximiz[e] the[] . . . functioning and maintenance' of an individual, . . . we conclude that Helen cannot be rehabilitated within the meaning of Wis. Stat. ch. 51." *Id*.

The Court would further discuss *Helen E.F.* in its 2017 case, *Waukesha County v. J.W.J.*, involving another paranoid schizophrenic. In affirming *Helen E.F.*'s reliance on "rehabilitative potential," the Court described the distinction between "rehabilitation" and "habilitation" as originally drawn by the Court of Appeals in *C.J. v. State.* About habilitation, it wrote:

[HJabilitation is more closely related to daily living needs and skills than to treatment of a particular disorder. A practical definition of habilitation would include eating, dressing, hygiene, minimum social skills and such other things that facilitate personal maintenance and functioning. Habilitation is a concept frequently associated with the long-term care of the developmentally disabled. It is possible that controlling a person's activities by restricting his or her freedom and putting him or her on a carefully defined regimen would be part of a habilitation program.

375 Wis. 2d 542, ¶ 31 (quoting *C.J.*, 120 Wis. 2d at 359-60).

"Rehabilitation," on the other hand, "addresses the control of symptoms" and "comprises 'treatment going beyond custodial care to affect the disease and symptoms.'" *Id.* ¶ 32 (quoting *C.J.*, 120 Wis. 2d at 360). The Court took care to note that "rehabilitation is not synonymous with cure." *Id.* Its meaning is broader "than returning an individual to a previous level of function." *Id.* Accordingly, the Court held that "[a]n individual with an incurable physical or mental illness or disability may still be considered capable of rehabilitation

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 19 of 33

and able to benefit from treatment in the sense that symptoms can be controlled and the ability to manage the illness ameliorated." *Id.*

The Court demonstrated this dichotomy by contrasting C.J.'s symptoms – who, like J.W.J., suffered from paranoid schizophrenia – from Helen's symptoms – who suffered from Alzheimer's disease. *Id.* ¶ 33. The primary symptoms of C.J.'s paranoid schizophrenia were "recurrent delusions," which "impair[ed] his judgment and behaviors." *Id.* (quoting *C.J.*, 120 Wis. 2d at 357). The primary symptoms of Helen's Alzheimer's disease were "progressive dementia, memory loss, the inability to learn new information, and limited verbal communication," which caused "agitation and aggression." *Id.* (quoting *Helen E.F.*, 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶ 3). As explained in *Helen E.F.*, "Helen's treatment could not reach her primary symptoms" and "could 'maximize [only] her functioning and maintenance." *Id.* ¶ 34 (quoting *Helen E.F.*, 340 Wis. 2d 500, ¶ 37).

The *J.W.J.* Court also added another key component to the concept of rehabilitative potential. It reasoned that a patient has "rehabilitative potential" "[i]f a treatment controls symptoms to such a degree that withdrawing it would subject the patient to a more restrictive treatment alternative." *Id.* ¶ 41.

Ultimately, the Court held that "[t]he uncontroverted facts show that [J.W.J.] has rehabilitative potential" and was more appropriately treated under ch. 51. *Id.* ¶ 40. While "his paranoid schizophrenia was a 'substantial disorder of his thought, mood, and perception' that 'grossly impair[s] his judgment and behavior,' . . . [t]he treatment he receives lessens the disordering of his thought, mood, and perception." *Id.* The Court acknowledged that, "while some of [J.W.J.'s] experiences and symptoms may still be present while under treatment, he does not act on them" and that "his

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 20 of 33

treatment is so effective at controlling his symptoms that he can live in society while taking his treatment as an outpatient." *Id.*

Moreover, "without treatment, [J.W.J.'s] condition would inevitably decline to the point he would have to be confined so he could receive inpatient treatment." *Id.* Indeed, he must have "rehabilitative potential" because, "[i]f treatment is withdrawn, [his] symptoms will worsen to the point that a more restrictive level of care would be necessary (confinement for inpatient treatment); reintroduction of treatment would return him to the previous level (treatment as an outpatient)." *Id.* ¶ 41. The Court noted that "[i]t is enough that treatment can accomplish this to demonstrate the patient has rehabilitative potential." *Id.*

B. The Court Should Endorse a Standard for Determining Whether Individuals Are More Appropriately Treated Under Ch. 51 or Ch. 55 Because Their Due Process Rights Entitle Them to the Shortest, Least-Restrictive Placement Necessary to Address Their Condition.

A commitment in any form exacts "a massive curtailment of liberty." *Vitek v. Jones*, 445 U.S. 480, 491-92 (1980). *Helen E.F.* is important because it protects the individual from an unnecessarily prolonged and inappropriately restrictive commitment. More than 50 years ago, the U.S. Supreme Court first recognized that "due process requires that the nature and duration of commitment bear some reasonable relation to the purpose for which the individual is committed." *Jackson v. Indiana*, 406 U.S. 715, 738 (1972). Three years later, it first described the principle that institutionalization must be in the least-restrictive setting appropriate to the patient's needs. *See O'Connor v. Donaldson*, 422 U.S. 563, 575 (1975).

"Both ch. 51, civil commitment, and ch. 55, protective placement . . . require treatment in the least restrictive alternative" to

Case 2022AP002065 Petition for Review Filed 10-30-2023 Page 21 of 33

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