FILED 11-15-2023 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

In the Matter of the Guardianship and Protective Placement of M.S.

Waukesha County Department of Health and Human Services,

Petitioner-Respondent,

Appeal Case No. 2022AP2065 v. Circuit Court Case No. 2022GN197

M.S.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ZACHARY M. BOSCH Assistant Corporation Counsel State Bar No. 1097994 Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent

Waukesha County Corporation Counsel Office 515 W. Moreland Blvd., AC 330 Waukesha, WI 53188 262-548-7432 zbosch@waukeshacounty.gov

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

ARGUMENT

This court should deny M.S.'s Petition for Review as M.S. misstates the well-settled law applicable to Chapter 55 cases and this case does not warrant review under Wis. Stat. §809.62(1r).

T. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY THE PETITION FOR REVIEW AS M.S. GROSSLY MISSTATES THE LAW APPLICABLE TO THIS CASE.

M.S. conflates and confuses the well-settled law in an effort to convince this Court to grant review and legislate new statutory requirements not found in Chapter 55. The actual law is well-settled, clear, and

concise and does not necessitate or require review by this Court.

The State Legislature has clearly stated an individual must meet the following standards to be subject to a protective placement order under Chapter 55:

- (a) The individual has a primary need for residential care and custody.
- (b) The individual . . . is an adult who has been determined to be incompetent by a circuit court.
- (c) As a result of developmental disability, degenerative brain disorder, serious and persistent mental illness, or other like incapacities, the individual is so totally incapable of providing for his or her own care and custody as to create a substantial risk of serious harm to himself or herself or others.
- (d) The individual has a disability that is permanent or likely to be permanent.

Wis. Stat. § 55.08(1)(a)–(d)¹. These are the only standards that must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. Importantly, M.S. does not

¹ As this appeal stems from proceedings in August 2021, all references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2019-20 version unless otherwise noted.

argue Waukesha County failed to meet its burden in proving these four requirements.

Once the circuit court orders protective placement, the "protective placement . . . shall be provided in the least restrictive environment and in the least restrictive manner consistent with the needs of the individual to be protected and with the resources of the county department." Wis. Stat. § 55.12(3). M.S. does not allege he is placed in a more restrictive setting than his needs require.

Instead of alleging Waukesha County failed to meet its burden proving the four statutory standards, M.S. argues there is another standard that must be proven that is not found in statute. M.S. argues this Court's Fond du Lac County v. Helen E.F.² decision enacted a new standard that requires circuit courts to make a determination regarding an individual's ability to be rehabilitated, but M.S. ignores the actual findings and holdings this Court made in *Helen E.F.* In reviewing whether Helen was a "proper subject for treatment" as required for a mental health

² 2012 WI 50, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179.

Filed 11-15-2023

commitment under Chapter 51, this Court held "an individual must be capable of rehabilitation." Fond du Lac Cnty. v. Helen E.F., 2012 WI 50, ¶30, 340 Wis. 2d 500, 814 N.W.2d 179. Moreover, this Court specifically noted, "Wis. Stat. § 55.08 requires that a circuit court determine that four elements are met before ordering a protective placement under ch. 55." *Id.*, ¶14.

Ultimately, this Court held, "ch. 55 has the exact opposite objective: long-term care of people who will likely never be cured. Explaining that objective, the legislature noted in § 55.08(1)(d) that individuals in need of protective services are those who have 'a disability that is permanent or likely to be permanent." Id., ¶39. This Court additionally concluded, "[b]ecause Helen's disability is likely to be permanent, she is a proper subject for protective placement and services under ch. 55, which allows for her care in a facility more narrowly tailored to her needs, and which provides her necessary additional process and protections." Id., ¶42. Importantly, this Court's holding regarding the appropriateness of protective placement does not include any

requirement that she be habilitative; rather, this Court's focus was on the four statutory standards under Wis. Stat. § 55.08(1) and in particular, whether the disability was permanent.

The *Helen E.F.* decision certainly engaged in an analysis of rehabilitative versus habilitative, but it was done in the context of what a "proper subject for treatment" means under Chapter 51. The fact an individual is not rehabilitative under Chapter 51 does not mean an individual is appropriate for protective placement: it means the individual is not a proper subject for treatment under Chapter 51. Only Chapter 51 requires an analysis of whether an individual is rehabilitative in order to determine whether the individual is a proper subject for treatment. Consequently, this Court noted, "Wis. Stat. ch. 55 contains no such requirement and thus imposes no such bar on Helen's care." *Id.*, ¶39.

In addition, the fact an individual is rehabilitative does not mean they are appropriate for a Chapter 51 mental health commitment as Wis. Stat. § 51.20 includes a number of standards that

must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. M.S.'s argument would require circuit courts to not only review whether the standards of Wis. Stat. § 55.08 have been met but also whether the standards of Wis. Stat. § 51.20 have been met. The statutes are devoid of any such requirement.

Moreover, if a circuit court finds that commitment is not warranted under Chapter 51, the State Legislature has prescribed a mechanism under Wis. Stat. § 51.67 that would allow the circuit court to enter a temporary guardianship and temporary protective placement order. However, the statute is clear that circuit courts may only engage in this conversion process if commitment is not warranted: "If, after a hearing under s. 51.13(4) or 51.20, the court finds that commitment under this chapter is not warranted . . . the court may . . . appoint a temporary guardian . . . and order temporary protective placement" Wis. Stat. § 51.67. Significantly, the circuit court cannot convert a Chapter 51 case to a Chapter 55 case simply because it finds one to be more appropriate than the other. In addition, Chapter 55 is devoid of any provision

allowing a circuit court to convert a protective placement to a Chapter 51 matter at a final hearing.

Furthermore, M.S.'s statements regarding the applicable law directly contradicts the Chapter 55 exclusion provisions found in Chapter 51. Three of the five dangerousness standards specifically note the probability of suffering harm "is not substantial under this [subdivision] . . . if the individual may be provided protective placement or protective services under ch. 55." Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.c. & e.; see also Wis. Stat. § 51.20(1)(a)2.d. In other words, the State Legislature contemplated an individual capable of rehabilitation could also qualify for protective placement or services under Chapter 55. Under M.S.'s "hypothesis," the circuit court would never reach the issue of dangerousness as the individual would never be a proper subject for treatment, rendering the Chapter 55 exclusion meaningless.

M.S. refers to his argument regarding the law as a "hypothesis." Pet. for Rev. 21. Given the fact it directly conflicts with the State Legislature's prescribed requirements under Wis. Stat. §§ 55.08

and 51.20 and this Court's decision in Helen E.F., it can be nothing more than a "hypothesis." Reviews by this Court should not be granted based on "hypotheses;" rather, this Court's resources and time should be devoted to those cases that legitimately meet the criteria prescribed by Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r) and present real conflicts within the actual law.

II. THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED AS REVIEW IS NOT WARRANTED UNDER THE CRITERIA OF WIS. STAT. § 809.62(1r).

This case is nothing more than a sufficiency of the evidence case. In an attempt to catch this Court's attention, M.S. has created a "hypothesis" about the relevant law in hopes this Court, unlike the Court of Appeals, will go "fishing for this red herring." App. 14.

In reality, this case does not present a real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law; it does not require this Court to consider establishing, implementing, or changing policy within its authority; it will not help to develop, clarify, or harmonize the law; and the Court of Appeals'

decision was made in accordance, not in opposition, to prior decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Notably, M.S. does not suggest this case warrants review under any of these standards.

To some extent, M.S. requests this Court to "clarify" Helen E.F.'s "crucial role" in Chapter 55 proceedings. However, as noted previously, no clarification by this Court is necessary as statutory requirements for protective placement under Chapter 55 are well-settled and *Helen E.F.*'s application remains in Chapter 51 cases. M.S.'s need for clarification is related to his "hypothesis," not the actual law. The law is clear, the Court of Appeals applied it appropriately, and such application was consistent with past decisions. As such, review by this Court is not warranted.

CONCLUSION

Based on the record and aforementioned arguments, Waukesha County respectfully requests this Court deny M.S.'s petition for review.

Filed 11-15-2023